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MOITAMMAD stated, in sum and substance, that hopefully everything would go well.
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD further stated “its difficult to raise funds when i'm not sure -what
exactly they'i‘e for... also there's not much time left. still, lcA:,rive me a call if you get a chance...”
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD further stated,. in sum and substance, that Awlaki might like a book as
a gift, or something simple such as dates and honey, because IBRAHIM MOHAMM.AD had
heard that Awlaki was a “very ascetic person.;’ In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD referred
to Awlaki, in code, as “the shaykh.” |

117.  On or about January 20, 2009; IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD communicated with
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD on the telephone for more than nine (9) minutes, subsequent to the
emails described in péragraphs 115and 116.

118.  On or about January 20, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent Unindicted Co-
Cohspirator #1 alink to a news ﬁdeo about Somalia and the activities of Al-Shabaab. Along
with this link, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated, “I just got visa and ticket to sana’a... for the
28th... till the 31st... did you read sh anwars’ 44 ways... btw, can you suggest a giﬁ for the
shaikh?” On or about this same date, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD also sent Unindicted Co-
Conspirator #1 a link to the Awlaki blog entry “al-Shabab: Reply to the Greeting and Advice of
Sheikh Anwar.” | |

119.  On or about January 21, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subj ect line “mailbox access.” In this email, FARQOOQ
‘ MOHAMMAD asked, in sum and Sub'stance, how much longer IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD

would have access to a mailbox at a residence address, known to the Grand Jury.:
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120.  Onor abou;[ January 21, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD, in sum and substénce, that he would have access to the mailbox until January
31, 2009. |

121, Omnor abqut J anuary‘21, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an emgil 10
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: ca—rd.” In this ematl, FAROQOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, “yeah use it. you could have asked this on the phone, not nice to have
thiilgs in easily processed text.” |

122. On 61‘ about January 21, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD repli.ed to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, “i tried to word it carefully, but yeah... i guess should be more
careful.. which card?” |

123, On or about January 21, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD responded back to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD and stated, “T probably maxed the ones you have, I'H send via
paypal.” R

124.  On or about January 22, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused his First
National Baﬁk of Omaha credif card, account ending in 1608, to be charged Ilay Paypal in the
amount of $4150 USD. This charge was made by, and the ﬁlll(iS transferred to, the Paypal
account held by IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD.

125; On or about January 22, 2009, IBRAEM MOHAMMAD withdrew funds in the
amount of $3946.35 USD from his Paypal account held and deposited the funds in his National
City Bank checking account, ending in 6743,

126. On or about January 22, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: card.” Tn this email, [BRAFIM

MOHAMMAD stated to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, “received $3946.35.” At an exact date
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unknown, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD deleted this email from an account with an identified
Internet Service Provider.

| 127. Oﬁ or aboutrlfanuaryQZ, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: mailbox access. In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and substance, that he wanted to order some items to the mailbox
at a former residence address of IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, known to the Grand Jury.

128.  On or about January 22, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and asked, in sum and substance, why FAROOQ MOIHAMMAD did not have
the order shipped to IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD’s new residence address, known to the Grand
Jury. IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD further asked FAROOQ MOHAMMAD whether the order |
would arrive in time. |

129.  On or about January 22, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD responded back to
IBRAHIM. MOHAMMAD, in sum and substance, he did not want to link IBRAHIM _
MOHAMMAD’s new address to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD in any way. F AROOQ
MOHAMMAD further stated, “if in case you get a call regarding me, I was a student roommate
 that left the country.” |

130. On or about January 24, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused his First
National Bank of Omaha cr.edit card, account ending in 1608, to be cilargeci by Paypal in the
amount of $4500 USD. This charge was made by, and the funds transferred to, the Paypal
account held by Illdividﬁal C, aresident of Augusta, Maine and known to the Grand Jury.

131.  Omn or about January 26, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD endorsed and deposited

a check drawn from a U.S. Bank account, check number 5097, held by Unindicted Co-
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Conspirator #1, in the amount of $300 USD, with the memo line “For Faroog,” into a National
City Bank checking account, ending 6743, held by IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD.

132, On or about January 26, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email with
thé subject line “Re: Check List for the trip” to Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2. FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD was cc¢’d on the email. In the email Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 replied to.an
carlier email from Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2 that contained a list of items to remember to
bring for the trip to Sanaa, Yemen to see Awlaki. Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 added several
comments to the list, including that his brother had purchased a “5-CD duplicator” to brihg to
Awlaki,

133.  On or about January 28, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-
Conspirator #3 travelled to Yemen without FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, who was unabie to travel
because he was ill, in order to meet with Awlaki. Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #3 travelled with approximately $7000 USD for.AWIaki, which included funds
in the amount of approximétely $6000 USD collected by FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, including
" approximately $300 USD contributed by Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1.

134.  On or about January 28, 2009, Individual B provided payment, in the amount of
37,716 AED (equivalent to approximately $10,277 USD), to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD in the
United Arab Emirates, This payment was reimbursement for the tuition payments and
automobile pu.fchase made on behalf of Individual A, the son of Individual B, by FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD on.or about January 7, 2009 and January 13,

2009, respectively.
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135.  On or about February 1 and 2, 2009, after returning from their trip to Yemen,
Unindicted C0~C0nspi1'§tor #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 eﬁchanged a series of emails
seftling their respective expenses incurred during the trip to Yemen.

| 136.  On or about February 3, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and Unindicted Co-—Conspirator #2 in which he proposed a se1jies of
further actions to continue to support Awlaki: “I now suggest the follovﬁng actions. Bros. pléase
give me your views. 1. Farook [FAROOQ MOHAMMAD] opens an email account at a
specified si;ce. He knows which one 2. He emails our friend [Awlaki] with-general greetings &
the following Qs. a. What actual_ly happened in his village that we couldn’t meet him? B. An
answer to our question written on paper delivered to him c Farook’s [FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD’s] Q on brothers in debt in US When we meet inshaAllah we can get more
details of this eméﬂ account & even check it from our nearby houses. Farook [FAROOQ |
MOHAMMADT pls do not go ahead until we have got a consensus on fufther actions_.”

| _ 137. Onor ab'dut February 3, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD contributed a sum of

$50 USD té Awlaki, using a Paypal account of FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, through Awlaki’s
website. |

138.  On or about Febfuary 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Wire.r” In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
asked, in sum and substance, that IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD send the remaining money via wire
transfer. FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further statled that he last sent $3946 USD and that there Was
a “balance” remaining from Individual A’s car payment and a tax payment. .

139.  On or about February 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent another einail to

IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “$$ accounting.” In this email, FAROOQ
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MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and substance, based on a review of emails, he had sent $10,606
USD to IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD in four separate installments. FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
further stated that the balance remaining was $3776 USD and that IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD
should send the money via wire transfer. FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further stated that he would
send another $2000 USD before IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD éhould send the money via wire
transfer.

140.  On or about February 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent another email to.
IBRATTIIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Wire transfer bank swift code.” In this email,
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD éent the information for an identified bank account, held in his name
and known to the Grand Jury, at an identified financial institution in the United Arab Eﬁﬁrates.

141. On oi‘ about February 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sént an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subjectlline “calls.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD sfated, in sum and substance, that he was starting to get telephone calls from
Citibank to pay back his credit ceu;d bill. FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further stated,.“if you .ever
wann[a] do this, I'd suggest not going over $8K or so per card, and have a bunch of them instead.
this way it is not worth the effor[t] per creditor.”

142, On or about February 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Series on NWFP;” ASIF SALIM was bec’d on
this email. In the email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD forwarded links to a four-part article entitled
“(jn the Militant Trail.” The articles detailed the Taliban and Al Qaeda strategy to wage
worldwide jihad against fhe United States and Muslim governments from the North West

Frontier Province area of Pakistan.
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143, Onor about February 6, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email fo
IBRAHIMVMOHAMMAD ;Nith the subject line “US supplies;” ASIF SALIM was bee’d on this
email. Tn the email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD forﬁmded links to, and quoted portions of, an
article about the theft of U.S. military supplies in Pakistan by the Taliban and other groups.

144,  On or about February 17, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD registered the domain
name for the website “ANWAR-AL-AWLAKI.COM” Witﬁ an identified web hosting service.
As part of the registration with this web hosting servicé, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD established a
1‘d0main forwarding” service‘ﬁ‘om “ANWAR-AL-AWLAKILCOM?” to another website.

,1 45. On ()'I' about February 17, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email‘to
FARCOQ MOHAMMAD and Unindicted Co—Conspirator #2 with the subject line “Our email.”
In the email, Unindicted .CO-COHSpiratOi' #3 stated, “Spoke with our fiiend [Awlaki] over the
phone. He hasnt checked his- email in a while & {llat’s why he hasnt replied to us. He said thaf
he will do it shortly inshaAllah. @Farook [FAROOQ MOHAMMADY], do inform us when you
receive it.” | | |

146, . 011 or about February 18, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to

- FAROCOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: Wire transfer bank swift c»ode.” In this
email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated, “some of your cards have some how gotten hold of iny
new address and have updated yours with it.”

147.  Onor about February 18, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and stated, “that’s not good. I didn’t want them to bother you. I'll file a change
of address to North Dakota or something with the USPS. anyways, what I'm doing oln purpose,

millions would be doing out of necessity pretty soon. an[d] my timing seems to be just right.”
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148.  On or about this same date, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied again_to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and stated, “[ forwarded my mail using USPS’s form back to my old address in
coiuﬁ[bus].”

149, On or about February 2§J 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD ordered the Awlaki
-iecture “Life of Muhammad: Medina Period, Part 2 of 2” from an oﬁline bookstore.

150.  On or about February 27, 2009, IBRATIIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to
FAROCOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “seen this?” In the email, IBRAHIM |
MOHAMMAD forwarded a link to a video entitled “Taliban Mujahideen: Fighting in Helmand
" and the Aftermath.” This video, which is over fifteen minutes in length, depicts a Taliban
ambush of a military convoy in Afghanistan. The video inclﬁdes a banner reading, in both
Arabic and English, “Heavy Béttie with Crusaders and Their Servénts many Killed and other
injured (Helmand).”

151.  Onorabout Fébruary 27, 2009, Individual C sent funds in the amount of
$4234.20 ‘USD via wire transfer to an identified bank account‘in the United Arab Emirates,
known fo the Grand Jury, held by FAROOQ MOHAMMAD. The iisted beneficiary on the wire
transfer was “Tahya [ Yahya] Mohammad.”

152.  Omnor about February 28, 2009, the Paypal account of FAROOGQ MOHAMMAD
made a payment of $83 USD to the Paypal account of IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD. This payment ‘
was. accompanied by a message from FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stating, “can you pre-order
madeenah period vol 27 and included a link to an online bookstore.

153.  Omn or about February 28, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMM@ sent an email to

IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “madeena vol 2.” 1n this email, FAROOQ
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MOHAMMAD stated, “I sent ybu payment via paypal for buying that series. Didn't orderl it
myself, cos [ don't Wam; my name associated with‘ vour address as much as possible.”

154. Onor about February 28, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD_ replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated,-“i’d already ordered it for myself. you sure you want another copy‘? i
can just upload mine if thats ok with you.”

155.  On or about February 28, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and stated, “that's ok, it's worth paying for. the nice packaging is good for a

gift” |

156.  On or about March 1, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “$$ accounting.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD re-sent an earlier email, dated February 6, 2009 and asked, “can Srou confirm

these numbers?” |

157. On. or about March 1, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROCOQ
| MOHAMMAD and stated, “sounds about right to me. i haven't had time tol go over all those
nu.mbers myself but i had about that much in mind. let me know Wheﬁ you want me to Wire
them. ie. Wheﬁ can i expect those 2k you mentioned.r” : |

15 8 On or about March 1, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused hisAPaypal account
to receive a payment of $1800 USD from the Paypal account in his spduse’s pame.

139.  On or about March 1, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused his Paypal account
to reéeive a transfer of $252.50 USD from his National City Bank checking account, ending in
6219.

160.  On or about March 1,‘2.009, FAROOGQ MOHAMMAD éaused his Paypal account

to make a payment of $2000 USD to the Paypal account of IBRAHIIM MOHAMMAD.
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1_61. On or about March 1, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an'email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: 88 accounting.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, “sent 2K. send the wire whenever you get a chance. .. btw, some other
bros are collecting funds as well. I need to figure out more ways for transferring. Do you know
of any honda there, like we used for sendihg to india?”

162.  On or about March 1, 2009, IBRATIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, “why dont we do what we did before, ie. 1 give money here to
[Individual A] and you take it from [Individual B]?” On or about this same date, FAROQOQ
MOHAMMAD replied to IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD and stated, “[Individual B] said he’s not
sending money for a couple of monﬂ;s or so.”

163. Onor abéut March 1, 2009, IBRAHIM .MOHAMMAD sent an email fo
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Fw: Notification of Limited Acpount‘ Access.”
In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD forwarded a message from Paypal stating, in sum and
substance, that access to the Paypal account of IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD had been temporarily
limited due to “activity in this account that is unusual or potentially high risk.” In this email,
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, “got this message from paypal. i
think they’ve become suspicious. i'll have to call them and talk to them. think i'll tell them i sold
you a car or something.”

164.  Omnor about March 2, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: Fw: Notification of Lﬁnited Account
Access.” In this-email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated,r “I had that a couple of times already. It
looks like there's a lot of funny stuff gding on these days. I even got phone calls within minutes

of making transactions.”
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165.  On or about March 3, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “paypal.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD asked, “did you sort it out with paypal?”
| 166.  On or about March 3, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROQOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, “not yet. i'm pretty sure its got to do with your sending me large
amounts on a credit card. i'll call them today and see what they say.”

167.  On or about March 7, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to .
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: paypal.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD asked, “any progress on this?”

168.  On or about March 13,2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: $$ accounting.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and sﬁbstance, the baiance owed to him by IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD was apprqximately $5000 USD. Also in this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
asked, “did you .get the paypal restricted access sorted out btw?”.

169.  On orabout March 13, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated,_. “not yet, they’ré asking for a bunch of stuff like invoices, proof of
shipping (;tc.. to show that you bougﬁt something from me. i'm thinking i'll tell them you used to
be my roélllnlate and 1 sold you my furniture and stuff when we left. i'm.pre‘rty sure they're going
| to quéstion me not just about the $2k you sent this time but all the payments you've made. in the
mean tinte, i can't withdraw the money you sent: its in my account but i can't touch it until this is

resolved.”
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170. - 'On or about March 13,2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and stated, “hmm sounds tough. I didn't have so many problems with paypal, it
’ got sorted out with one phone call.” |

: 171 On or about March 16, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD caused Paypal to send
him an email notifying him that a payment pf $2083 USD would be transferred to his National
City Bank checking account, ending in 6743.

172, On or about March 16, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD caused funids in the
amount of $2083 USD to be withdrawn from his Paypal account and deposited.into his National
City Bank checking account, ending in 6743.

173, On or about March 17; 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
Unindicted Co—Conspirafor #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 with the subject line “AA
email;” Unindicted Cd-Co’nsph'a"[-or #1 was bee’d on this email. In this eméﬂ, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD provided a link to an image file that had been uploaded to Websité 1. The link
was to a “private” part of the website. This email included the username and password needed to
access the file. _

174,  On or about March 17, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2. In the email, Unindicted Co-
Conspirator #3 forwarded an-advertisement for Air Mébia airlines and asked, “any body -
interested in flying to sanaa [Yemen]?”

175, On or about March 19,2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: $$ accounting.” In this email, FARQOOQ

MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and substance, that IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD should give an
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additional $500 USD to Individual A. With respect to these funds, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
stated, “add it t.o my tab. Confirm when done please. What’s the paypal status?”

176.  On or about Marn‘;h 19, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAITIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Fwd: Fly from AED 77 with Air Arabia!” The
subject line of this erﬁail also contained an email address identified with Unindicted Co-
Conspirafor #3. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD forwarded IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD
an email originally sent from Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and
Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2. In this original email, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 stated, “any
body interested in flying to sanaa?” and forwarded a list of Air Arabia fares for flights from the

United Arab Emirates to selected destinations, including Sana’a, Yemen,

177.  On or about March 27,2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sént an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “nasheed request.” In this email, FAROOQ
- MOHAMMAD forwarded a Iink to an online video entitled “Short Clips of Jihad Songs with
English Translation.” .The video features four nasheeds, sung in Arabic, but with the English
translations on display in the video. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further stated, “cio
you have the full nasheeds from here... especially the second one.” |

178.  On or about March 30, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: nasheed request.” In this email, IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD replied to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and stated, “I know the first, second and
fourth but haven’t heard the third. I’ve attached the ones T have. Btw, fyi, the voice in the
beginning of no. 4 is-of sh. abdullah azz am [sic].” In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD
attached three audio files. The first file, entitled “qum.mp3,” incudes the lyric “Get up and shaké

off your slumber, because Islam is back. We have come for the sake of Allah, and we have
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declared Jihad.” Tiﬁe second file, entitled “baroodaty.mp3,” includes the lyric “So let them spill
my blood for it to flow on earth... We will erupt like a volcano and burn iﬂce coals... O nation of
unbelief with your red infidels!” The final file, entitled “erhabyun_ana.mp3,” translates to “I am
a terrbrist” and includes the lyrics “I am a terrorist, I terrorize the enemies of the [Faith]... Allah
the Master the Almighty has ordered Jihad against the immoral ones...”

179.  On or about March 30, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMALD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Good documentaries én _Pakistan.”' The subject
line of this email ajlso contained an email address identified with Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3.

| In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD forwarded IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD an email
originally sent from Unindicteci Co-Conspirator #3 to FAROOQ MéHAMMAD and Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #2. In this original email, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #é) forwarded links to
online videos of three documentaries about the conflict between the Pakistani Army and the
Taliban.

180.  On or about March 31, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: nasheed request..” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD replied to the email from IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD on March 30, 2009 and
stated, “I really like the second one.” |

| 181.. Omnor about April 2, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ
| MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: nasheed request.” In this email, IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD provided a link to Website 1. The link was to a specific file, entitled
“Ya_ayuha_alshaheed.mp3”[“O You Martyrs!”]. In.this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD

stated, “you might like this one too.. its easy to understand for the most part.”
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182.  Onor about April 5, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email .to Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 with the subject line “AA email;”
Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 was bee’d on this email. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
provided a link to an image file that had been uploaded to Website 1. The link was to a “private”
part of the website. This email included the username and password needed to access the file.

-183. On or about April 7, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD, ASIF SALIM, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 with the subject line “Taliban
jihad against the West funded by emeralds from Pakistan.” In this email, FAROOQ H
MOHAMMAD sent a link to, and ﬂle complete teit from, an article about the Taliban funding of
military operations through the sale of emeralds. | |

184. Onor about April 9, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to IBRATIIM
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “taliban governance;” this email was bee’d to ASIF
SALIM. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent a link to two articles about the Taliban
funding of military operations through the sale of emeralds and marble.

185, On or about April 9, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to FAROQOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, “the msm [mainstream media] would have us believe that they get
their funding through opium.” On or aboutrthis same date, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, “maybe its allowed during war time? [ don't know [i]f they are or
not.” | |

186. On or about April 11, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email to
Individual D. In the email, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 stated, “Also, my friend [Awlaki] has

. emailed me requesting for USD $80,000.”

48




Case: 3:15-cr-00358-JZ Doc #: 1 Filed: 09/30/15 49 of 72. PagelD #: 49

187. . On or about April 11, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 received an email
from Individual D in which Individual D asked, “When do u need the USD?”

188.  Onor about April 12, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 responded to
Individual D in an email, “We’re tryin to collect at least 10K [$10,000]. Another month should |
be OK.” |

189.  Omor about April 12, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, ASIF SALIM, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 with the subject
line “Dawah [proselytizing| progress and methods used.” In this email, FAROOQ
MOIIAMMAD provided a link to a file entitled “dpmu.pdf” that had been uﬁloaded to Website
1. This seveﬁteen-page document contained the transcript of an.interview With an identified
Taliban commander conducted by As-Sahab, the media wing of Al Qaeda. Inthis interview, the
Talibah commander stated, “Our Jihad isn’t limited to Pakistan or Afghanistan... Our Jihad is.a
gIobal_J ihad... I would like to confirm that Jihad has become an individual obiigaﬁon.. When the
infidels lay siege.to Muslim Iands, as they have done in Afghanistan and Traq, Jilhad becomes
obligatory upon each and every Muslim for the liberation of those Muslims’ lands.. .. Thusitis an
individual obligation upon the entire Muslim ummah [worldwide community] to do Jihad for the
liberaftion of Traq and Afghanistan and to bring the tyranny of the kaffars [non-believers in Islam]!
to an end...” In this intérview, the Taliban comrﬁénder also praised Usama bin Laden and those
individuals who perpetrated attacks in Mumbai, India in November 2008. FAROOQQ
MOHAMMAD had received this document in an email that Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3
forwarded to him earlier that day.

190.  Onor about April 14, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to

IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, ASIF SALIM, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 with the subject

49



Case: 3:15-cr-00358-JZ Doc #: 1 Filed: 09/30/15 50 of 72. PagelD #: 50

line “Fwd: Prepared to die for Islam.” The subject line of this email also contained an email
address identified with Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
forwarded a link to, and the entire text from, an article about individuals from the United States
and the United Kingdom fighting on behalf of Al-Shabaab in Somalia. The article described Al-
Shabaab as “a group with links to al—Qaeda”’ and stated, in sum and substance, that the
individuals joining Al-Shabaab admired Usama Bin Laden and were motivated to wage violent
jihad by the United States’ wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.

191, On or about April 14, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Nation going dark.’; In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD included a link to an article about the Taliban’s military advance toward
Islamabad, Pakistan. |

192.  On or about April 28, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD transferred $500 USD
from his National City Bank checking account, ending in 6219, to his Paypal account.

193.  On or about April 28, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused his Paypal account
to make a payment of $500 USD to the Paypal account of Individual A.

194, On or about May 14, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD transferred $200 USD
from his National City Bank checking account, ending in 6219, to his Paypal account. |

195.  On or about May 15, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD caused his Paypal account

| to make a payment of $200 USD to the Paypal a@count of Individual A.

196.  On or about May 25, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspiratorr#3 with the subject line “nefa file.” ASIF
SALIM was bee’d on this email. The email forwarded a link to an eight page document entitled

“Anwar al Awlaki: Pro Al-Qaida Ideologue with Influence in the West.,” This document detailed
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Awlaki’s connection to terrorism suspects in the United States. The document also described
three of Awlaki’s writings: Constants on the Path of Jihad; 44 Ways of Supporting Jihad; and a
Letter in Support of -Al—Shabab. |

197.  On or about May 26, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD made an online payment to
the tuition account of Individual A at University 1 from his Nationai City Bank checking
account, ending iﬁ 6219, in the amount of $700 USD.

~198.  On or about May 26, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to Individual
A, Individual B, and IBRATIIM MOHAMMAD. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
forwarded thel online payment receipt for $700 from the tuition account of Individual A at
University 1. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated; “T’ve paid $700 for now. I’ll pay
the rest as soon as [ arrange it from other sources.” ,

199.  Onor about May 26, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD replied to F_AROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, “i thought you wanted me to pay [Individual A’s] tuition? Or do you
want me to deppsit the money to your account?”

200. (On or about May 26, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD responded back to
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD and stated, “I thought you hadn't figured out the balance you owe me

| yet. if you have, then please pay the remainder of [Individual A’s] fee. that would be faster.”
| 201.  Onor about May 26, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD responded back to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and stated, “i haven't figured out the details yet but for 1ﬁow will
assume your total is correct. i1l pay the remainder 'of [Individﬁal A’s] tuition and will work out
the rest soon.”
202, On or about May 27, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ

MOHAMMAD with the subject line “account update.” In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD
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forwarded a list of expenses and stated, in sum and substance, that he owed $4437.13 USD to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD. In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD further stated, “i'm going

to use a chunk of that to pay [Individual A’s] tuition. 'l let you know how much remains.”

203, On or about May 27, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to Individual .

B With the subject line “update;” FAROOQ M_OHAMMAD and Individual A were cc’d dn this
email. In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and substanée, that he had made
payments in the amount of $1 62.99 USD on behalf of Individual A in the United States. In this
email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD further stated, “[FAROOQ MOHAMMAD] has already paid
me back the money, so you can give it to him over there in dirhams.”

204.  On or about May 28, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “[Individual A’s] tuition: urgent.” In this email, IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD asked FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, “can you give me the login/pass you used to
pay [Individual A’s]tuition? also the link to the website for 1naking the payment would be
helpful.” | |

.205. On or about May 28, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to_IBRAHIM
MOI‘IAMMAD with the login, 'password, and website for the online tuition payment system at
University 1. ‘ |

206.  On or about May 28, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD made an online payment
to the tuition account of Individual A at University 1 from his Key Bénk checking account,
ending in 8231, in the amownt of $3216.13 USD.

207.  Onor about May 28, 2009, Individual B sent é:n email to Individual A with the
subj éct line “Summer Course Fee payment to [University 1];” FAROOQ. MOHAMMAD was

cc’d on this email and IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD was bee’d on this email. In this email,

S
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Individual B stated to Individual A, “Enclosed is the confirmation of the paymeilt of $3,216.13
received by [University 1]. Eaﬂier $ 700 was received by [Univefsity 1].” Individual B then
sfated, n surﬁ and suBstance, that he would pay the equivalent of $3916.13 USD in AED to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD in the United Arab Emirates. |
| 208.  On or about June 11, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ -

MOHAMMAD with the subject line “fyi.” In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD attach.ed a
collection notice on behalf of First National Bank of Omaha regarding credit card account ending
1608, held by FAROOQ MOHAMMAD. The collection notice stated that the amount due on
this card was $19,273.65 USD and offered to establish a se’tﬂement agreement for payment of the
card. In this email, [BRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated, “looks like ‘[hey’re offering to negotiate.”

209. On or about June 12, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to this e.mail‘ from |
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD and stated, “there is nothing to nggotiate. D7

210.  Omn or about June 23, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an emgil o Unindicﬁed
.Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 with the subject line “AA reply;”
Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 was bee’d on this email. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
stated, “it came on the 17th T hadn’t checked the account the last few days.” FAROOQ | |
MOHAMMAD then provided a link to an image file that had been uploaded to Website 1. The
link was to a “private” part of the website. This email included the username and password
needed to access the file. |

211.  Onor about June 23, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “mailed.” In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated,

“mailed the sim and debit cards today. hopefully they’ll get there in time.”
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212, Onor about June 29, 2009, ASIF SALIM sent an email to SULTANE SALIM
and three other identified individuals, known to the Grand J ury, with the subject line “RE: Our
conversation.”_ In this email, ASTF SALIM'stated, “T came across some stuff in reference to our
conversation (in Columbus) about giving tidings‘ of Hellfire to the dead kuffar in théif
graveyards, It is attacllea.” Attached to this email was a document, in both Arabic and English,
containing scriptural references in support of giving the tidings of Hell to the graves of non-
believers in Islam.- |

213.  From on or about June 30 to July 1, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #2 aﬁd Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 exchanged a series of emails discussing
when in July to make a trip to Yemen to seé Awlaki. In one email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
suggested, “we should consult our friend | Awlaki] as well.” Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2
agreed, reque;ting, “Pls communicate with our friend [Awlaki] & confirm for 23rd.. T think
we’ll need 4 days atleast. ask him if we can meet him in sanaa [Yenien].. if we have o g0 to his
plaée we need 4 days starting from Thursday.. uguys will have to take 2 days off.. i.e. thursday & |
sunday.. communicate with him & plan..”

214, Onor about July 2, 2009, FAROCOQ MOHAMMAD sen;r an email to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “groceries.” In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
stat¢d, “1 did not get the sim card :(.” |

| 215 . Onorabout July 2, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an émaﬂ to Unindicted
Co-Conspirator #3 with the subjeét line “Re: For your efforts....” In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, “I’m-about half way done with this. I'll do the rest later tomorrow. ..

How does it look so far? ) All done using Gimp [GNU Image Manipulation Program]

software.” Afttached to this email, FARQOQ MOHAMMAD sent an electronic document that
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appeared to be a Long Term Visit pel'mi;t from the United Arab Emirates for an identified
individual, listing Unjndictéd Co-ConSpirator #3 as a sponsor. This document had been altered
in that the expiration date was changed from May 7, 2009 to September 7, 2009.

216.  On or about July 2, 2009, Unindicted Co—Conspirator #3 replied to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD and stated, ... good job so far. Can you change the date of issue to today’s date
so that we can make use of it in the next few days? But are you sure that only on the basis of this
sim cards will be given? | have a feeling fhey also need pp [passpoit] copy.”

217. Oﬁ or about July 3, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to Unindicted
Cb-Canspirator #3 with the subject line “Re: For your efforts. ... In this email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD stated, “I had bought one myself at [an identified retail oatlet] just using a visit
visa copy.” |

218. On of about july 7, 2009, ASIF SALIM sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject Iine “Trip.” In this email, ASTF SALIM stated, “I tried to wire
some today and, apparently, the routing pumber is wrong. The lady said ’;hel:a's a difference "
between a regular routing number and a wire (transfer) routing number. Do you know anything
about that?” 7 |

7219. On oi' about July 7, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to Uninﬁicted
Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3. In the email, FARQOQ MOﬁAMMAD
stated, “Here’s a reply from our friend [Anwar Awlaki]. tentatively that’s alright. I cannot meet
you in San’aa but I can arrange for someone to bring you over to me.”

220. On or about July 8, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to ASIF
SALIM with the subject hne “Re Trip.” In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD 1ep11ed to

ASIF SALIM and stated, “ have no idea about that. I think it would be easier if you just mail a
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check to my brother, and he can deposit it in my account. Just let me know the total amount, and
I'l cover it from here.” FAROOQ MOHAMMAD then provided the residence address of
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further stated, “A friend is
arranging visas this week, we plan to go on the 23rd.”

221, OnorJuly §, 2009, ASIF SALIM forwarded the email described in paragraph 220
to SULTANE SALIM. In this email, ASIF SALIM forwarded the content of the original
message from FAROCOQ MOHAMMAD, including the residence address of IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD. Above this forwarded information, ASIFE SALIM stated, “Here’s the info. Git
‘er done.”

222.  On or about July 8, 2009, SULTANE SALIM sent an email to ASIF SALIM with
the subject line “FW: Payment Notification from the FBL” Tn this email, SULTANE SALIM
forwarded a meésage that purported to be from the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Above the
forwarded email, SULTANE SALIM stated, “I was a tad ‘Surprised when | saw your email [the
email referenced in paragraph 221] and this email waiting for me in my inbox.”

223, Onor about July 13, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD deposited $17,060 USD
inté a National City Bank checking account, ending 6219, held by FAROOQ MOHAMMAD.
This deposit consisted of $60 USD in cash, one check from ASIF SALIM in the amount of
$2000 USD, and three checks from SULTANE SALIM in the amounts of $2400 USD, $6200
USD, and $6400 USD, dated June 15, 2009; June 19, 2009; and July 6, 2009, respectively.

224, On or about July 16, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to Um'ndicted
Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 with the subject line “collection.” In this

email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated, “I now have 20K collected including [Unindicted Co-
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Conspirator #3’s] contribution, a large part of that is in my US account. ] can’t think of a way of
getting it here in time. Let’s meet tomorrow... to discuss.”

225, On or about Juiy 20, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD made a payment of $60
USD from his Paypal account to the Paypal accouptof IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD. This
payment was accompanied by a message from FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stating, “The 60 bugs
[bucks] what T owed you f0£ Sa\‘fing me from overdraft.” |

| 226.  Onor about July 20, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD transferred $700 USD from
his National City Bank checking account, ending in 6219, to his Paypal account.

2277, On or about July 20, 2C09, FAROQOQ MOHAMMAD made a payment of $700
USD from his Paypal account lto the Paypal account of Individual A.

228.  Onorabout July 22, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email fo IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and ASIF SALIM with the subject line “trip.” In this email, FARQOQ |
MOHAMMAD stated, “I'ﬁ going to Sanaa tomorrow morning... with a couple of friends. We've
got visas and other bookings done today. H you want me to pass along any messages.or
questions, let me know by tonight. I may not get a chance to check email during the weekend.
Please keep this to yourselves, and make dua [prayer] for our safe trip.”

229.  From on or about July 23, 2009 to on or about July 26, 2009, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 travelled td
.Yemen in order to meet With Awlaki. During this frip, they travelled to a village in Yemen

" where Awlaki was living, but were unable to personally meet with Awlaki due to the presence of
Yémeni government soldiers in the village. FAROOQ M(SHAMMAD, Unindicted Co- -
Conspirator #2, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 then travelled to Sana’a, Yemen, where

Awlaki instructed them to meet with one of his associates. FAROOQ MOHAMMAD,
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Unindicted Co—COnspirator #2, and Unindicted Co—Conspiratof #3 then met Awlaki’s associate
in Sana’a and gave apprbximately $22,000 USD to that person for Awlaki.

230.  On or about July 26, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “so....7"”" In this email, IBRAIIM MOHAMMAD aéked,
“how was it7” |

231.  On or about July 26, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD rephied to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and stated, “couldn't meet him, but delivered the goods to a relative.”

232, Omnor about July 26, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and ASIF SALIM Wﬁh the sﬁbj ect line “The wrong place a_t the Wl;O‘l‘lg time;”
Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 was cc’d on this email. In this email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD
stated, “I found this worth reading'again, after re’;urﬁing from my trip.” In the email, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD then provided a link to an article on Awlaki’s website éntiﬂed “Is the Franklin

1”

morphing into the Washington? This article was originally posted on the Awlaki website on or
. about October 6, 2008.

233.  Onor about August 1, 2009, IBRAIIIM MOHAMMAD downloaded the
complete lectures of Awlaki onto his computer.

234.  Onorabout August 1, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD visited the Awlaki
website and viewed the blog entry entitled “The Army of Yemen Confronts the Muy ahi_deen.”

235.  Onorabout August 3, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD visited the Awlaki A
website and viewed the blog entry entitled “Beruwala Attack: Sri Lanka.”

236.  Omn or about August 12, 20009, Unindic’téd Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email to

FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2. In the email, Unindicted Co-

Conspirator #3 stated, “Was wondering if you received any confirmation (sms or email) of

58



Case: 3:15-cr-00358-JZ Doc #: 1 Filed: 09/30/15 59 of 72. PagelD #: 59

receipt of the package [receipt of the money by Awlaki].” He further suggested, “Probaby we
mi-ght ask the recipient [Awlaki] to confirm receipt. What say?”

237.  On or about August 18, 2009, Individual B sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “[Indfvidual A] fee for fall;” IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD
-and Individual A were cc’d on this email. In this email, Individual B stated, in sum and
substance, that the total tuition for Individual A for the fall semester at University 1 was
$5513.89 USD. In this email, Individlual. B further stated, “You may pay dirécﬂy to university.”

238. - On or about August 18, 2009, Individual B sent an email to FARQQQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “FW: Extra expenses other than fee Sept;;’ IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD and Individual A were ¢¢’d on this email. In this email, Individual B stated, in
sum and substance, that additional expenses for Individual A totalled $1070 USD. In this email,
Individual B further stated, “amount to be send [sic] to [Individual A’s] account.” |

239, On or about August 18, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD transferred $1070 USD
from his National City Bank checking account, ending in 6219, to his Paypal account.

240. On br about August 18, 2009, FARQOOQ MOHAMMAD made a payment of
$1070 USD from his Paypal account to the Paypal account of Individual A.

241.  On or about August 20, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD made an online payment
to the tuition account of Individﬁal A af University 1 from his National City Bank checking
account, ending in 6219, in the amount of $5513.89 USD.

242, On or about August 22, 2009, SULTANE SALIM sent an email to an identified
individual, kndwn to the Grand Jury, with the subject line “dnloads.” The email contained a link

to a website offering downloads of Awlaki lectures.
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243, On or about August 23, 2009, SULTANE SALIM sent an email to ASIF SALIM
with the subject line “barb a fossé.” In the email, SULTANE SALIM statéd, “1 fbund the stor}lf
{as my boy naﬂ”a_ted it) in text format right after I talked to you. This should provide all the
fodder... errrr cannonballs. .. you need. An amazing story.” SULTANE SALIM then included
text from the Awlaki lecture “Allah is Preparing Us for Victory” regardiﬁg the death of Frederick
Barbarossa during the Crusades. |

244.  On or about August 30, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD viewed an online news
article entitled “Al Qaeda claims Saudi prince bomb” regarding Al Qaeda in the Arabian
Peninsula’s claim of responsibility for a suicide bombing on Saudi Prince Mohammad bin Nayif.

245.  Omn or about September 3; 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email fo
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “A A lecture.” In this email, IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD sent a link to an online ‘video of Awlaki’s lectﬁre “Beyond Guantanamo: Is This
The End?” | | |

246.  On or about September 3, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to IBRAHIM |
MOHAMMAD and asked “do you know the date of this lecture?”

247.  Onor about September 3, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD r.eplied to FAROOQ.
MOHAMMAD and stated, in sum and substance, the lecture Wé.s from August 30, 2009,

248.  Omnor about September 3, 2009, SULTANE SALIM received an email with a link
to download the Awlaki lecture: “Beyond Guantanamo: Is This the End?” -

249.  Onor about September 3, 2009, SULTANE SALIM replied to this email with a
link to Awlaki’s website.. |

250. On. or about September 4, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to

FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: Baklava.” In this email, IBRAHIM
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MOHAMMAD stated, in sum and substance, that‘he had received a check for FAROQOQ
MOHAMMALD, in the amount of $2414 USD, from an identified individual, known to the Grand
Jury. IBRAHIM MOBHAMMAD then stated, “Sillée I'd deposited that $17k, you'd told me not to
deposit anymore so it's still with me.” | ‘ |

251.  On or about September 4, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to
FARO(jQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “c card default.” In this email, IBRATIM
MOHAMMAD stated, “apparently if you have an unsecured loan like eredit cards, then the
creditor can go tol court to obtain a means of retrieving their money. the cowr't can tﬁem grant
them power to go after the debtor's wages, property or their checking/savings accounts. juét
wanted to give you the heads upl. maybe ifs lbest not to keep much‘ money in youf accomﬂ;.”

252, On or about September 7, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD Viewed an online
news article entitled “IEDs wreak havoc among forces in Afghanistan.” Immediately after
viewing this article, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD entered the search terms “Taliban ied” into the
Websit§ YouTube. For apprﬁximately two hours, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD then accessed
umerous videos available on YouTube, including: “Taliban Clip;” “American Taliban... Must
Watch;” “Taliban vs. Kafirs;” “Taliban Muyj ahideeﬁ;” “The Deadliest Month for Foreign .Troops
in Afghanistan;” “Kuffaar soldiers starts crying after firefight with TALIBAN;” “LIVE
FOOTAGE of IED that killed 2 Canadian ISAF [International Security Assistance Force] troops
and wounded 5... near Kandahar;” “2 IED attacks on U.S. Convoy in Irag;” “IED Blast in |
Afghanistan;” “Tank vs IED.” After viewing these videos, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD entered
the search terms “mujahideen in Afghanistan” into the website YouTube. IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD then accessed a video available on YouTube entitled “Turkey Muyjahideen in

Afghanistan.”
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- 253, Omorabout September.’i, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAE sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD with the subject line “keeping it simple.” This email contained a link
to the YouTube video entitled “Turkey Mujahideen in Afghanistan.” |

254, On or about September 12, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD visited a website
offering the complete collection of Awlaki lectures updated through September 2009. |

255, On or about September 25, 2009, the Paypal account of FAROO.Q
MOHAMMAD received a transfer of $650 USD from a National City Bank checking account,
ending 6219, held by FAROOQ MOHAMMAD.

256. On or about Séptember 25,2009, thé Paypal ﬁccount of FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD made a payment of $650 USD to the Paypal account of Individual A.

257.  Onorabout Septelﬁber 26, 2009, ASIF SALIM sent an email to FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD with the subject line “Re: [Book Club] Motivating Hadith.” In this email, ASIF
SALIM stated, in sum and substance, that he had attempted to call FAROOQ MOBAMMAD
eariier in the week, but was unable to reach him. ASIF SALIM further asked, “Anything on the
southern front?” On or about this same Idate, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD replied to ASIF SALIM
and stated, “There's no communication on the southern front since befofe Ramadaan. Things
seem to have becoxﬁe very chaotic up north just after our visit though. I'll keep you updated if1
hear anything.”

258. On or about October 5, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to
Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3, [BRAHIM MOHAMMAD,
ASIF SALIM, and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #1 with the subject line “AA email.” In this
email, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated, “[ Thank you] to everyone who helped. Please let me

know if you can find any useful infq.” 'FAROOQ MOHAMMAD then provided a link to an
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image file that had been uploaded to Website 1. The link was to a “private” part of the website.
This email included the userﬁame and password needed to access the file.

259.  On or about October 5, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD transferred $400 USD
from his National City Bank checking account, ending in 6219, to his Paypal account.

260. On or about October 5, 2009, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD made a paynient of $400-
USD from his Paypal account to the Paypal account of Individual A,

'261.  On or about Octqber 11, 2009, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sent an email to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2. Attached to the email was a scan
of a handwritten note from Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 stating that he had been asked to meet
with a security officer from the immigration office. Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3 sﬁggested
they meet. That same day, Unindicted Co-Conspirator #2 and Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3
engaged in a communication. In th.e communication, they discussed why a security officer
wanted to talk to Unindicted Co-Conspirator #3, who explained, “that’s not good. coz i dont
know why they want me. im assuming the worst & that’s why i Wént us to have a consensus on
thf_a stofy.”

| 262. On or about October 14, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD sent an email to an
identified individual, known to the Grand Jury, with the subject line “part 2 link.” In the email,
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD provided a link to Website 1, where a file entitled
“aa_medinan_vol2” was available. In this email, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated, “its still
uploading, should be ready around 2 am. just try it in the morming sometime.” .
263.  On or about November 10, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, after reCeiving a
link to an online news story about the Awlaki blog entry “Nidal Hassan Did the Right Thing,”

from an identified individual, known to the Grand Jury, replied: “lol, I was about to send you
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something along those lines... but decided against it... yeah, I’ve read it... I read it on aa’s
website when it was posted this morning. . .‘ its been taken down since.”

264.  On or about December 26, 2009, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, after receiving a .
link to an online news story about an attempted airstrike on Al Qaeda leaders in Yemer,
including Awlaki, responded: “[MJay Allah préserve him [Awlaki].”

265.  Omu or about January 19, 2010, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD forwarded to an
identified individual, known to the Grand Jury; areference to a Time Magazine article on
Awlaki. IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated, “there’s a 4 i)age article on sh. AA [Awlaki] in this
weeks Time magazine... read it and you’ll realize how all their values of freedom and human.
rights go out the window When it éoncems muslims... what annoyed me about the TIME article
was how baseless allegations are so easily presented as facts. like whatever happ[eJued to .
journalistic standards they have charts and time lines plotting sh. aa's apparently nefarious
double life... with every allegation that could possibly be levelled E‘Lgalinst him presented as
- proven fact.” |

266. On or about January 19, 2010, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD al»so forwarded fo this
identified individual a link to an online video, originally released by As-Sahab, the media wing
of Al Qaeda, on or about January 9, 2010. In this video, Humam Khalil Abu-Mulal zil—Balawi
claimed responsibility for a suicide bomb attack in Khost, Afghanistan which killed seven
employees of the United States government.

267.  Onor aboutJ anuaryr\21,‘ 2010, an identified indiv'idual, known to the Grand. Jury, |
sent IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD a link té the cbnlplete blég entry “Tawfique Chowdhury’s
Alliance with the West” as it originally appeared on the Awlaki website. IBRAHiM |

MOHAMMAD replied, “why're you getting into this now?”
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268.  On or about April 21,2010, SULTANE SALIM sent an email to an identified
individual, known to the Grand Jury, with the subject line “da trip.” In this email, SULTANE
SATLIM addressed an upcoming hiking trip and stated, f‘I’m glad ydﬁ’re thmkmg about it more
seriously I-lOW cuz I definitely don’t want you thinking it’ll be a \'N;llk in thé park and then find
out it’s much rougher... Of course I don’t have to remind you of the following ahadeeth from
Saheeh Muslim: ‘If soméone dies without participating in <blank> and not having the intention
of ever dding <blank>, he has died on a branch of Hypocrisy (Nifaaq).” (For me, I don’t think
playing tennis on the weekends or listeniﬁg to CD’s proves that [ had the intention.).” *.

269.  On or about September 12, 2010, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD sent an email to an
identified individual, known to the Grand Jury, with the subject line “Re: Student loans.” In this
email, FAROGQ MOHAMMAD stated, “Of course taking a loan and agreeing to pay interesf on
it is haram [forbidden]. There's another opinion that taking a loan from a nation that is at war
with islam while having no infention to repay it or the interest on it is allowed and even
commendable as an act of war to weaken the enemy. I doubt 3}011 will hear this from anyone
publicly ;Lhough.”

270. At an exact date unknown, but at least :%s fafe as in or around October 201 1;
IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD deleted numerous emails from an account with an identified Internet
Service Provider, including emails containing the words and phrases “Awlaki,” “A A,” “AA,”
“jihad,” “Taiiban,” and “Yemen.”

271.  On or about October 19, 2011, in Chicago, Hlinois, less than three weeks after
Awlaki’s death, SULTANE SALIM made false statements to agents éf- the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. In sum and substance, SULTANE SALIM stated that he had m‘ittenrseverall

checks t6 IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD in order to repay a loan IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD made to
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him in 2002. In sum and substance, SﬁLTANE SALIM stated that this loaﬁ enabled him to
purchase a house. SULTANE SALIM Ifurther stated, in sum and substance, that he had no
knowledge of FAROOQ MOHAMMAD. SULTANE SALIM further stated, in sum and
substance, that he had never watched an Awlaki lecture or video, and that he had never
personally provided, or knew anyone who had provided, any money to Awlaki. SULTAN E
SALIM further denied, in.sum and substance, any knowledge of Awlaki’s Websi.te.

272. At an exact date unknown, but at some timerbetween on or about October 19,
2011 and Janvary 9, 2012, FAROOGQ MOHAMMAD instructed IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD to
lie to the 'Federal Bureau of Investigation if questioned.

273.  Omn or about December 8, 2011, in the Northemmn District of Ohio, IBRAHIM‘
MOHAMMAD made false statemeﬁts to the Federal Bureal‘l of Investigation. In sum and
substance, IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD stated that he had not engaged in any ﬁnan'cial
transactions with SULTANE SALIM or ASIF SALIM, and that SULTANE SALIM and ASIF

SALIM had not written any checks to him. IBRABRIM-MOHAMMAD further falsely stated, in

'sum and substance, that he would have no reason to engage in financial transactions with

SULTANE SALIM or ASIF SALIM, and that he would remember something like those
transactions.

274.  On or about I anuary 9, 2012, in the United :Arab Emirates, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD made false sfétements to the Federal Bureau of Investigation. In sum and
substance, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stated that the July 2009 checks from SULTANE SALIM
were repayment of a $12,000 USD home loan provided from FAROOQ MOHAMMAD to

SULTANE SALIM m or around 2002, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD further stated, in sum and
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substance, tﬁa‘t SULTANE SALIM had repaid $17,000 because the house had been resold at a
SO-perc;ent profit. . |

275.  On or about January 9, 2012, in the United Arab E‘mirates,lASIF SALIM made -
false statements to fhe Federal Bureau of Investigation. In sum aund substance, ASIF SALIM
stated that he was aware of an ongoing investigation into funds provided by SULTANE SALIM
to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, but that SULTANE SALIM had never told ASIF SALIM the
purpose of any funds ever provided to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD. ASIF SALIM further stated,
in sum and substance, that he had never provided any funds to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD.

276. At an exact date unknown, but before in or around J anuary 2012, FAROOQ
MOHAMMAD deleted all emails, except for one, dated from on 6'1‘ about February 1, 2008
through on or about January 15, 2010, from an account with an identified Iﬁtemet Service
Provider. |

277. Atan exact. date unknown, but between on or about November 22, 2011 and
J anﬁeuy 9, 2012, ASIF SALIM deleted all fifty (50) emails from a foldér entitled “Trips” located
in the email .inbox of an account on an identified Internet Service Provider. These erﬁailé
included correspondence to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD dated July 8, 2009; aﬁd correspondence
related to hiking trips made in 2009 and 2010. |

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Seetion 2339A.
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COUNT TWO
(Providing Material Support and Resources to Terrorists)

The Grand Jury further charges:

278.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 24 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated as if fully rewritten.

279. In or about July 2009, in the Northern District of Ohio, and elsewhere, the
defendants YAHYA FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, IBRAHIM ZUBAIR MOHAMMAD, ASIF
AHMED SALIM, and SULTANE ROOME SALIM did knowingly and intentionally provide
material support and resources, to wit: property and services, inc}uding currency and monetary
instruments, knowing and intending that they were to be used in preparation for, and in carrying
out, violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1114 (killing of officers and employees
of the United States), 2332 (killing of U.S, nationals), and 2332b (acts of terrorism transcending
national boundaries).

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2339A and 2.

COUNT THREE
(Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

280. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 24 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated as if fully rewritten herein.

281. From in or around January 2007, to in or around S‘eptember 2010, in the Northern
District of Ohio, and elsewhere, the defendants, YAHYA FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and
IBRAHIM ZUBAIR MOHAMMAD, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did

knowingly and intentionally combine, conspire and agree with and among each other, and with
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and among others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit bank fraud: that is, to
knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice (a) to defraud financial institutions
-which were th@h insured By the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation f“FDIC”) and which
were then financial institutions as defined by Tiile 18, Unil:ed States Code, Section 20; and (b) to
obtain money, funds, credits, assets and other property owned by, and under the custody and
control of, those ﬁnan_c‘ial institutions, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representatioﬁs, and promises, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344(1) and
(2).

Object of the Conspiracy

| 282. It 'was the object of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and IBRAHIM
MOHAMMAD, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, obtained money for
themselves by using credit cards in the name of FAROOQ MOHAMMAD to obtain moﬁey from
the financial institutions issuing the crédit cardé with no intention of repaying the amounts |
obtained from the financial institutions.

Manner and Means

283. Tt was part ‘of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD applied for and
olbt'ained credit cards from American Express, Citibank, First National Bank of Omaha, and-
" Discover, which were then financial institutions insured by the FDIC. |
| 284, It Was further part of the conspiracy that at the t‘ime the credit cards were issued to
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, he promised to repay any amounts charged to the credit cards, when,

at the time, he had no intention to do so.
285. It was further part of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and

IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD communicated with each other and others via email regarding
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FAROOQ MOHAMMAD’s plans to obtain the credit cards and his intent not to repay large |
amounts charged to them rand instead to use the money for their own purposes.

286. It was further part of the conspiracy that in order to inislead the financial
institutions issuing the credit cards as to his residence, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, with the
agreement of IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, provi‘ded one ot more of the financial institutions with
| IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD’s address in the Northern District of Ohio as his address, even though
FAROOQ MOHAMMAD actually lived in the United Arab Emirates.

287. It was further part of the conspiracy that EAROOQ MOHAMMAD used the
credit cardé to make payments of funds to thé Paypal account of IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD.
While in the Northern District'of Ohio, IBRAHIM MOITAMMAD transferred the funds to
| Paypal accounts in the hame of FAROOQ MOHAMMAD and FAROOQ MOHAMMAD's wife.

FAROOQ MOHAMMAD then transferred the funds from these Paypal accounts to his bank
accbunt. |

288. It was further part of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD used the
credi;[ cards to.make payments- of funds to the Paypal account of another individual, known to the |

Grand J ury, who then caused the funds to be paid to FAROOQ MOHAMMAD.

289. It was further part of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, with the
assistance of [IBRAHIM MOHAMMAD, uséd the cr@dit cards to make tuition payments to
University 1, loc_ated in the Northern District of Ohio, on behalf of Individual A. Individual B
then repaid FAROOQ MOHAMMAD the amount of lthg tuition payment in the United Arab
Emiraftes, effectively all(_)'wing him to move the wrongfully obtained money out of the United

States without creating direct financial records.
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290. It was further part of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD used the
credit cards for other purchases, such as airfare to Yemen.

291. It was further part of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD initially made
payments on the credit card accounts in order to ensure the continued availability of credit;
however, after using the credit cards to transfer large amounts that put the balances at or near the
credit limits, FAROOQ MOHAMMAD stopped making payments on the credit card accounts,

Ali in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349,

COUNT FOUR
(Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice)

The Grand Jury further charges:

‘292. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 24 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated as if fully rewritten herein.

293. From a date unknown, but at least as early as in or around October 2011, and
continuing until at least in or around January 2012, in the Northern District of Ohio, and
elsewhere, the defendants, YAHYA FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, IBRAHIM ZUBAIR
MOHAMMAD, ASIF AHIMED SALIM, and SULTANE ROOME SALIM, did knowingly and
intentionally combine, conspire and agree with and arﬁong each other, and with and among
others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States, to
wit, obstruction of justice in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Séctions 1512(c)(1) and
©2).

Object of the Conspiraey

294. Tt was the object of the conspiracy that FAROOQ MOHAMMAD, IBRAHIM

MOHAMMAD, ASIF SALIM, and SULTANE SALIM, and others known and unknown to the
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Grand Jury, would corruptly alter, destroy, mutilate, and conceal records, documents, and other
' o.bjects, including email communications stored on accounts with identified Internet Service
Providers, With the intent to impair the integrity and availability of these records, documents, and
other objects for use in an official proceeding; and would corruptly obstruct, influence, and
impede an official proceeding. |

Manner and Means

295. It was a part of the conspiracy that one or more of the co-conspirators attempted
to conceal evidence relevant to an official proceeding by intentionally making false statements,
indluding omitting material facts, to government agents and officials.

296. It ‘Was a 'ﬁll‘fher part of the conspiracy that one or more of tﬁe co-conspirators
attempted to conceal evidence relevant to an official proceediﬁg by deleting email
communications detailing their associations and activities.

Acts in Furtherance of the LConspiracy

297. Iﬁ furtherance of the conspiracy and in order to effect its objects and conc_éal its
existence, ﬂ’.le defendants and their co-conspirators committed one or moie of the following acts
in the Northern District of Ohio and elsewhere:

298.  As overt acts, the allegations of paragraphs 270 through 277 of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated as if fully rewritten herein. |

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(k).

A TRUE BILL.
Original Document - Signatures on file with the Clerk of Courts, pursuant to the E-Government |

Act of 2002.
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